
*Attachments 
 

 
Regular Meeting of The Winnetka-Northfield Public Library District Board of Trustees 

  
THE MEETING WILL BE HELD AT 6:30 PM AT THE NORTHFIELD LIBRARY 

LINK TO ATTEND VIRTUALLY POSTED AT WWW.WNPLD.ORG 
 
 

AGENDA 
Monday, December 15, 2025 

 
1) Call to Order 

2) Roll Call  

3) Public Comments 

4) Consent Agenda 
a. Approval of November 17, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes* 

b. Approval of November 2025 Revenue & Expense Summary* 
c. Approval of November 2025 Bill List* 

5) Library Reports 
• Director’s Report* 
• President’s Comments 

6) Village Reports 
• Winnetka Village Liaison  
• Northfield Village Liaison 

7) Unfinished Business 
• Update on Building Projects 

8) New Business 
• Presentation of FY24-25 Financial Audit (ATA Group) 
• Board Training- Executive Director Evaluation (Deiters & Todd Consulting) 
• Discussion & Approval of Engberg Anderson Contract for Professional Services 

• Discussion & Approval of March Meeting Date Change 

9) Communications 
• Next regular meeting: Tuesday, January 20, 2026 at Winnetka Library 

10) Public Comments 

11) Adjournment 

 

http://www.wnpld.org/


WINNETKA-NORTHFIELD PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT 
MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 

November 17, 2025 
 

 
I.​ Call to Order 

The meeting was held at the Winnetka Library, 768 Oak St., Winnetka, Illinois. President 
Freechack called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. A quorum was present. 

 
II.​ Roll Call 

Present were Trustees Matt Kinnich, Ranjini Shankar, Jenny Fisher, Lindsay Jenkins, 
Sarah Munoz, and Sarah Tegel; Board President Laura Freechack; and Library 
Executive Director Monica Dombrowski. 

Present were library employees Mark Swenson and Laura Martinez. 

Present was Northfield resident and VIllage liaison, Matt Galin. 

III.​ Public Comments 
No public comments.  

 
IV.​ Consent Agenda 

• Approval of October 20, 2025 Special Meeting Minutes 
• Approval of October 2025 Revenue & Expense Summary 
• Approval of October 2025 Bill List 
 
The Consent Agenda was approved upon motion by Trustee Kinnich, and confirmed 
by voice vote. 
 

V.      Library Reports  
• Director’s Report 
Exec. Director Dombrowski presented the November 2025 Director’s Report, which 
was included in the board packet for the November 17, 2025 Regular Meeting. 
 
• President’s Comments 
President Freechack shared that she will attend the Winnetka Village Council 
meeting in February. She thanked the members of Friends of the Library who 
recently retired, and welcomed new members. President Freechack reminded 
trustees that the December meeting will include director performance review training.  
 

 
 
 

1 



VI.     Village Reports 
• Winnetka Report 
Trustee Fisher shared that a four-story mixed development project has been 
approved at Tower and Green Bay Rd. The Winnetka Village Board has approved a 
1.45% tax levy increase. 
 
• Northfield Report 
Trustee Jenkins shared that the Northfield Village Council approved the library 
expansion project, estimating 6-8 months for design and concept approvals. 
Middlefork Elementary’s funding proposal will be released in March, and a Parks 
referendum is expected.   
 

VII.    Unfinished Business 
• Update on Building Projects 
Exec. Director Dombrowski reported that the Winnetka project is nearly finished; a 
new emergency door will need to be ordered for the lower level. New display 
shelving and youth improvements arrive this week.​
​
Regarding Northfield, Exec. Director Dombrowski and team members will soon meet 
with the Northfield Village Council to determine communications plans for the 
renovation project. There is also a scheduled kick-off meeting with the architect.  

 
VIII. ​ New Business 

• Discussion & Vote on FY25-26 Non-Resident Card Ordinance* 
No changes proposed.​
The FY25-26 Non-Resident Card Ordinance was approved upon motion by Trustee 
Munoz, and confirmed by voice vote. 
 
• Discussion & Vote on FY25-26 Levy* 
Roll call vote to approve the FY25-26 Levy:​
YES: 6 
NO: 0 

 
IX.​ Communications 

Next regular meeting: Next regular meeting: Monday, December 15, 2025 at Northfield 
Library. 

 
X. ​ Public Comment 
​ No public comment. 
 
XI.​ Adjournment 

There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion to adjourn was 
made by Trustee Jenkins. 
 

2 



The motion passed on voice vote and President Freechack adjourned the meeting at 
6:58 p.m.  

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Sarah Tegel  
Board Secretary 

                                                       __________________________ Laura Freechack, President 

                                                       __________________________ Sarah Tegel, Secretary 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3 



Winnetka-Northfield Public Library
District

Board Report

For the Month Ended

November 30, 2025

Prepared By

668 N. RIVER ROAD • NAPERVILLE, ILLINOIS 60563

PHONE 630.393.1483

www.lauterbachamen.com



Ideal Budget Percentage Spent: 41.67%

Month-to-Date Year-to-Date Annual Remaining % Collected /

Actual Actual Budget Budget Expended

Operating Revenue

Property Tax 0.00$ 35,630.54$ 5,162,670.00$ 5,127,039.46 %0.69

Replacement Tax 0.00 17,845.20 45,000.00 27,154.80 %39.66

Collections 621.62 57,011.09 139,380.00 82,368.91 %40.90

Materials 1,022.86 10,190.68 9,300.00 (890.68) %109.58

Other Income 27,140.43 100,945.62 237,450.00 136,504.38 %42.51

Total Operating Revenue 28,784.91 221,623.13 5,593,800.00 5,372,176.87 %3.96

Operating Expenses

Administration 25,122.61 96,698.80 175,293.00 78,594.20 %55.16

Building 50,122.46 140,165.74 478,302.00 338,136.26 %29.30

Capital 183,654.07 475,780.02 465,000.00 (10,780.02) %102.32

IT Services 24,609.09 131,091.95 280,000.00 148,908.05 %46.82

Library Materials - Adult 57,962.92 259,438.05 752,500.00 493,061.95 %34.48

Library Materials - Youth 10,317.12 26,776.61 88,250.00 61,473.39 %30.34

Personnel 251,878.69 1,138,005.26 3,064,750.00 1,926,744.74 %37.13

Public Relations 134.82 7,108.28 61,000.00 53,891.72 %11.65

Programs 6,400.04 40,450.24 109,100.00 68,649.76 %37.08

Utilities 8,493.30 38,746.16 100,150.00 61,403.84 %38.69

Total Expenses 618,695.12 2,354,261.11 5,574,345.00 3,220,083.89 %42.23

Excess Revenues less Expenses (589,910.21)$ (2,132,637.98)$ 19,455.00$ 2,152,092.98$

Winnetka-Northfield Public Library District

Revenue and Expense Summary

For the 5 Months Ended November 30, 2025

All Funds

1



Ideal Budget Percentage Spent: 41.67%

Month-to-Date Year-to-Date Annual Remaining % Collected /

Actual Actual Budget Budget Expended

Operating Revenue

Property Tax 0.00$ 32,714.42$ 4,684,000.00$ 4,651,285.58 %0.70

Replacement Tax 0.00 17,845.20 45,000.00 27,154.80 %39.66

Collections 621.62 57,011.09 139,380.00 82,368.91 %40.90

Other Income 27,140.43 100,945.62 237,450.00 136,504.38 %42.51

Total Operating Revenue 28,784.91 218,707.01 5,115,130.00 4,896,422.99 %4.28

Operating Expenses

Administration 25,122.61 96,698.80 175,293.00 78,594.20 %55.16

Building (45.72) 0.00 0.00 0.00 %0.00

Capital 183,654.07 475,780.02 465,000.00 (10,780.02) %102.32

IT Services 24,609.09 131,091.95 280,000.00 148,908.05 %46.82

Library Materials - Adult 57,962.92 259,438.05 752,500.00 493,061.95 %34.48

Library Materials - Youth 10,317.12 26,776.61 88,250.00 61,473.39 %30.34

Personnel 251,878.69 1,138,005.26 3,064,750.00 1,926,744.74 %37.13

Public Relations 134.82 7,108.28 61,000.00 53,891.72 %11.65

Programs 6,400.04 40,450.24 109,100.00 68,649.76 %37.08

Utilities 8,493.30 38,746.16 100,150.00 61,403.84 %38.69

Total Expenses 568,526.94 2,214,095.37 5,096,043.00 2,881,947.63 %43.45

Excess Revenues less Expenses (539,742.03)$ (1,995,388.36)$ 19,087.00$ 2,014,475.36$

Winnetka-Northfield Public Library District

Revenue and Expense Summary

For the 5 Months Ended November 30, 2025

Fund 10 - Library

2



Ideal Budget Percentage Spent: 41.67%

Month-to-Date Year-to-Date Annual Remaining % Collected /

Actual Actual Budget Budget Expended

Operating Revenue

Property Tax 0.00$ 2,916.12$ 478,670.00$ 475,753.88 %0.61

Total Operating Revenue 0.00 2,916.12 478,670.00 475,753.88 %0.61

Operating Expenses

Building 50,168.18 140,165.74 478,302.00 338,136.26 %29.30

Total Expenses 50,168.18 140,165.74 478,302.00 338,136.26 %29.30

Excess Revenues less Expenses (50,168.18)$ (137,249.62)$ 368.00$ 137,617.62$

Winnetka-Northfield Public Library District

Revenue and Expense Summary

For the 5 Months Ended November 30, 2025

Fund 70 - Building & Equipment

3



 
 

 
 
DECEMBER 2025 DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
STAFF UPDATES 
Anniversaries: Jeremy Farrar, Social Media & Marketing Assistant, 11/15 (3 years); Matty Schultz, Page, 11/30 
(2 years).  
Comings: Laura Martinez, Business Manager, 11/7 
 
STAFF SHOUT OUTS 
• Kudos to the Winnetka Youth Services team for pivoting for 3 days when our shelving installation did not 

go as planned and we had to temporarily close the Youth department. They set up an amazing open play 
opportunity in the Lloyd Room to help keep services going for the 292 people that came in! 

• Kudos to Community Engagement Coordinator, Pim, who spearheaded a month-long food drive in 
collaboration with the Villages of Winnetka & Northfield, the Winnetka Park District, & Winnetka Police 
Department. So far, we’ve collected over 350 items for our local food pantries!  

 
PROGRAMMING 

Youth  
Category NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Programs 50 56 -10.71% 303 275 10.18% 
Live Attendees 1,889 1,926 -1.92% 10,208 9,110 12.05% 
Passive Programming 3,885 6,037 -35.65% 20,048 23,977 -16.39% 

 
Highlights 

Family Science 22 participants used marshmallow ghosts and popsicle sticks in a friendly 
competition to make the highest tower.  

Taylor Swift Dance Party 75 attendees joined us for a Taylor Swift Dance party with music from all their 
favorite Eras as well as bracelet making!   

 
Adults  

Category NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Programs 18 11 63.64% 82 72 13.89% 
Attendees 373 322 15.84% 2,548 1,938 31.48% 

 
Highlights 
Savor & Share: Cookbook Book Club (IP) 16 attendees enjoyed cooking and sharing recipes from the highlighted 

feast cookbooks. A repeat attendee mentioned that he looks forward to 
this all month long. 

A Brief and Surprisingly Interesting History 
of Brick Architecture in Chicago (V) 

63 attendees journeyed across the architectural history of Chicago to 
learn how brick influenced the look and function of our city. 

(IP)= In-Person Program   (V)=Virtual Program 
 
 
 



Studio 
Category NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
1:1s 398 231 72.29% 2,003 1,145 74.93% 
Programs 8 10 -20.00% 52 54 -3.70% 
Attendees 55 34 61.76% 268 291 -7.90% 

 
Highlights 

I’m Thankful Decor 10 patrons joined us to make festive paper 
gourds for their holiday tables & doors!  

Browse Smarter Not Harder 14 patrons learned how to protect their 
personal data while browsing on their phones 
and computers.  

 
Community Engagement 

Category NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Youth Events 0 - - 25 6 316.67% 
Adult Events 2 2 0.00% 12 12 0.00% 
Family Events 0 2 -100.00% 1 8 -87.50% 

Total Events 2 4 -50.00% 38 26 46.15% 
Youth Attendance 0 - - 1,480 340 335.29% 
Adult Attendance 25 20 25.00% 280 417 -32.85% 
Family Attendance 0 83 -100.00% 250 834 -70.02% 

Total Attendance 25 103 -75.73% 2,010 1,591 26.34% 
 
Highlights 
• Community Engagement Coordinator Pim attended the Association of Bookmobile and Outreach Services 

(ABOS) conference in St. Louis to connect with others doing library outreach and stay up on best practices 
for his area of service. 

 
SERVICES 

Visitors 
Physical Branches NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 

Winnetka 11,567 11,592 -0.22% 62,435 58,159 7.35% 

Northfield 4,300 4,532 -5.12% 23,485 22,878 2.65% 

Total  15,867 16,124 -1.59% 85,920 81,037 6.03% 

Digital Branch NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 

Program Attendees 201 218 -7.80% 1,715 1,066 60.88% 

Recording Attendees 99 191 -48.17% 495 1,078 -54.08% 

Website Visitors 9,382 6,382 47.01% 34,994 31,420 11.37% 

eResource Users 2,030 1,771 14.62% 10,079 8,711 15.70% 

Database Users 279 251 11.16% 1,503 1,233 21.90% 

Total 11,991 8,813 36.06% 48,786 43,508 12.13% 

Combined Total 27,858 24,937 11.71% 134,706 124,545 8.16% 
Note: Closed at 5pm on 11/26 and 11/27-28 for Thanksgiving. Closed at 1pm on 11/29 due to snowstorm.     
 



 
  

 
Cardholders (by Household) 

Community Number of Households Households w/Cards % Households w/Cards 
Winnetka 4,242 3,249 76.59% 
Northfield 2,340 1,449 61.92% 

Total District 6,582 4,698 71.38% 
Kenilworth 789 222 28.14% 

Total 7,371 4,920 66.75% 
 

Desk Questions 

Category NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 

Adult 1,887 1,980 -4.70% 11,161 10,924 2.17% 

Youth 609 722 -15.65% 3,089 2,825 9.35% 

Digital Services 73 70 4.29% 399 357 11.76% 

Total 2,569 2,772 -7.32% 14,649 14,106 3.85% 
 
TECHNOLOGY 

Computer Usage 
Location NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Winnetka 319 338 -5.62% 2,008 2,111 -4.88% 
Northfield 202 185 9.19% 1,155 1,155 0.00% 

Total 521 523 -0.38% 3,163 3,266 -3.15% 
 
Hotspot Usage 

Location NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Winnetka Sessions 35,292 12,465 183.13% 127,224 65,323 94.76% 
Northfield Sessions 8,803 2,517 249.74% 18,428 10,281 79.24% 

Total  44,095 14,982 194.32% 145,652 75,604 92.65% 



Winnetka Bandwidth 952 GB 223 GB 326.91% 3,796 GB 1,154 GB 228.94% 
Northfield Bandwidth 161 GB 116 GB 38.79% 520 GB 483 GB 7.66% 

Total  1,113 GB 339 GB 228.32% 4,316 GB 1,637 GB 163.65% 
 
MARKETING 

Website Visits 
Activity NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Total Visits 14,757 10,628 38.85% 62,228 53,275 16.81% 

Email Subscribers  
NOV25/26 % Cardholders NOV24/25 Open Rate Click Rate 

10,229 107.01% 10,425 57% 1% 
Open Rate: % who opened the email. Click Rate: % who clicked on links inside the email.  
 
Social Media Activity 

Platform NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- 
FY25-26 

YTD 
FY24-25 

YTD 
FY % +/- 

YouTube  

Impressions 7,856 33,375 -76.46% 46,065 202,825 -77.29% 
Facebook  

Impressions 14,306 3,045 369.82% 69,527 22,919 203.36% 
Engagements 220 51 331.37% 1,466 667 119.79% 

Instagram  
Impressions 7,165 4,093 75.05% 33,184 24,319 36.45% 

Engagements 234 226 3.54% 1,689 848 99.17% 
LinkedIn  

Impressions 702 401 75.06% 6,750 2,695 150.46% 
Engagements 14 37 -62.16% 297 176 68.75% 

Total Impressions 30,029 40,914 -26.60% 155,526 252,758 -38.47% 
Total Engagements 468 314 49.04% 3,452 1,691 104.14% 

Impressions: # of times the content has been seen/viewed.  Engagements: # of comments, likes, shares, & click-throughs.  

COLLECTIONS 

Physical Adult (By Location) 
Location NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Winnetka 9,436 9,624 -1.95% 50,573 51,825 -2.42% 
Northfield 2,888 3,350 -13.79% 16,921 18,462 -8.35% 

Physical Youth (By Location) 
Location NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Winnetka 12,830 15,332 -16.32% 67,024 70,848 -5.40% 
Northfield 3,606 2,783 29.57% 17,376 15,557 11.69% 

Note: Winnetka Youth department closed for 3 days due to shelving installation. 

 

 



Physical Miscellaneous 
Lending Type NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Kenilworth Patrons 721 755 -4.50% 3,374 3,723 -9.37% 
Borrowed from Other 
Libraries 

1,671 1,534 8.93% 8,981 8,013 12.08% 

Physical Adult (By Type) 
Material Type NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Books 7,649 7,729 -1.04% 41,178 42,335 -2.73% 
 Book - Fiction 4,202 4,272 -1.64% 23,163 24,308 -4.71% 
 Book - Nonfiction 3,447 3,457 -0.29% 18,015 18,027 -0.07% 
Audiobook - CD 90 148 -39.19% 620 745 -16.78% 
Music CD 45 60 -25.00% 213 313 -31.95% 
Playaway 15 19 -21.05% 62 102 -39.22% 
DVD/Blu-Ray 2,189 2,304 -4.99% 10,795 11,863 -9.00% 
Magazine 185 229 -19.21% 1,116 1,041 7.20% 
Videogame 32 33 -3.03% 161 213 -24.41% 
Computing Device 9 11 -18.18% 32 36 -11.11% 
Library of Things 30 30 0.00% 174 126 38.10% 
Other 10 5 100.00% 1,034 496 108.47% 
Non-CCS ILL 32 52 -38.46% 261 245 6.53% 
Sent Out 2,038 2,354 -13.42% 11,848 12,772 -7.23% 
Studio Equipment 201 142 41.55% 1,030 432 138.43% 

Total 12,525 13,116 -4.51% 68,524 70,719 -3.10% 
 
Physical Youth (By Type) 

Material Type NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
Books 12,244 12,971 -5.60% 63,613 64,026 -0.65% 
 Book - Fiction 10,345 10,696 -3.28% 54,565 53,849 1.33% 
 Book - Nonfiction 1,899 2,275 -16.53% 9,048 10,177 -11.09% 
Audiobook - CD 0 0 - 14 3 366.67% 
Playaway 345 235 46.81% 1,726 1,242 38.97% 
DVD/Blu-Ray 292 549 -46.81% 2,181 3,534 -38.29% 
Videogame 241 366 -34.15% 1,448 1,669 -13.24% 
Computing Device 85 85 0.00% 397 327 21.41% 
Vox Reader 343 394 -12.94% 1,710 1,809 -5.47% 
Youth Kits 45 92 -51.09% 1,670 371 350.13% 
Other 62 13 376.92% 121 51 137.25% 
In House Circulation 2,776 3,410 -18.59% 12,653 13,365 -5.33% 

Total 16,436 18,115 -9.27% 85,542 86,405 -1.00% 

MTD Total Physical Circulation 
NOV25/26 Physical Circulation NOV24/25 Physical Circulation Net Change 

28,961 31,231 -7.27% 
   

 
 



YTD Total Physical Circulation 
FY25-26 YTD Physical Circulation FY24-25 YTD Physical Circulation Net Change 

154,066 157,124 -1.95% 

 

Digital Circulation 
Material Type NOV25/26 NOV24/25 Mo. % +/- FY25-26 YTD FY24-25 YTD FY % +/- 
eBooks 5,431 4,842 12.16% 28,959 24,750 17.01% 
eAudiobooks 5,348 4,408 21.32% 27,010 22,796 18.49% 
eMagazines 2,553 2,262 12.86% 12,173 11,202 8.67% 
eVideos 585 578 1.21% 2,913 2,594 12.30% 
eMusic 40 50 -20.00% 246 183 34.43% 

Total 13,957 12,140 14.97% 71,301 61,525 15.89% 
 

 



 
MTD Total District Circulation 

NOV25/26 District Circulation NOV24/25 District Circulation Net Change 
42,717 43,229 -1.18% 

 
 
YTD Total District Circulation 

FY25-26 YTD District Circulation FY24-25 YTD District Circulation Net Change 
223,195 218,217 2.28% 

 
IMPACT STORIES 
Branch Services 
General Feedback 
• A patron expressed gratitude for the library’s technology options, specifically the portable CD/DVD drive, 

which allowed him to copy a digital photo from a CD & email it to his nieces. 
• Librarian Lisa’s display, “Welcome to Millennial Station,” sparked a discussion with a patron about the 

movie, Mean Girls, and the books, Queen Bees & Wannabes and Odd Girl Out. The patron placed holds on 
those books and hopes those resources may help her daughter navigate a challenging friendship group. 

• The WNPLD library card can open many doors, and, in this instance, it helped us reunite a patron with her 
lost keys! When they were found in our parking lot and turned in at the desk, Librarian Denise used the 
library card on the keychain to locate the patron and contact the patron, who marveled at the unexpected 
utility of her library card! 

• A regular attendee of Mixed Media Journaling brought a friend to the most recent session and gave them a 
personalized tour of the library beforehand, showing off all the things that make Northfield a patron 
favorite, like the fireplace and the selection of new adult books. She also pointed out the Winter edition of 
The Source and praised the programming offered district wide. 

• A family with elementary school-aged children checked out their first Playaway and returned the next day 
for another. “We’re getting more of these, and I’m listening to it right now. I love it.”  

• A patron asked for Librarian Rebecca’s assistance with selecting books for his daughter because her 
recommendations were always “spot on.” 



• A patron said, “This is the best thing that’s happened to me all day,” after Librarian Lisa changed the 
checkout time on Libby from 14 to 21 days. 

• A patron checked out two big piles of picture books and said, "I hope this is okay, you just have all the good 
books!”  

• “It’s a pleasure to come to this library, everyone is always so friendly.” “ 

• “This is such a gem of a library.” 

• “You’ve done such a wonderful job with the children’s section. In my opinion, there is nothing more important 
than children learning to read. It’s lovely to see that happening here.” 

• “You have a great adult nonfiction section. Every time I come in, I find something new to read.” 

• “Oh, hi, Amelia, we’re going to have to start coming every Sunday just to see you!” 

• “Grateful for all the great service in this library.” 

Programming 
• Feedback on Art Play – Alphabet Soup: “My daughter loves glue and stickers, so this is perfect for her.” 

• Feedback on Clue: A Mystery Book Club 
o 3 new members joined the Clue Book Club discussion in November, one who recently moved to town 

and found the club while browsing library events and another who was looking for what to do now that 
gardening season is over. 

o “I love British mystery shows. This club keeps me from watching too much TV.” 

• Feedback on Mah Jongg 

o “Very nice teacher. Knowledgeable” 

o “Syl and Kathy were excellent teachers -- very patient with Newbies to Mah Jongg! I took time from work to 
attend these sessions -- and I'm very grateful. Thank you for offering this program.” 

 

Youth Services 
General Feedback 
• “My kiddo LOVED when you hosted Greeley [in October].  I heard you were enthusiastic which isn’t surprising.” 

• “The kids department is such a happy place. [My child] never wants to leave!” 

• “Wow, you guys have expanded the 1000 Books Before Kindergarten program so much. Thank you for making 
this so special for [my child].” 

• “You recommended Artemis Fowl to us and we LOVE IT.  Thank you!” 

• “You guys always have so many great programs. Especially when it's bad weather, it's so nice to have something 
to do!” 

• An adult patron complimented one of our youth librarians saying, “I’ve been sitting here for over an hour 
and you really know how to talk to kids!” 

Programming 
• Feedback on Storytimes 

o “When we go home, she's always doing the songs and actions!" 

o “Oh, you play the right songs that I love, thank you.” 

• Feedback on Sensory Shenanigans: “We appreciate you so much! You give us such amazing things to do and it 
makes our lives so much better. We love coming to the library and seeing your bright happy faces.” 

• Feedback on Little Messy Art: “Thank you for always having such great programs! I work until 5 so I love the 
4-5 programs! We're able to quickly do a project or play and then I'm all done with work!” 



• Feedback on Anything But Brushes: "You saved me with this program, it's getting so cold outside I didn't know 
what I was going to do with these kids, but we heard there was going to be art and rushed over!" 

• Feedback on Crafternoon 
• "You've just saved our lives having a program today! Thank you thank you thank you!" 

• "This is just so much fun, even for adults!" 

• Feedback on our furniture/shelving upgrades and additions 

o "As an adult who loves to sit, I love these new chairs!" 

o "This new space looks amazing!" 

o "I've been coming here for 15 years, and this is the best [this space] has ever looked!" 

o "The vibe is so nice in here. I like how things are a bit more segmented for the bigger kids." 

o "I love the new tables and chairs!" 

o “Oh, I like the more open space since the remodel!” 

 
Adult Services 
Programming 

• Feedback for Jane Austen’s Sanditon: From Unfinished Swan Song to British Costume Drama: 
o “It was a very interesting topic. I enjoyed the Sanditon presentation on PBS and the insight was awesome. I 

also like Jane Austen's historical background and other stories.” 

o “So much we didn’t know about a favorite author! Thank you!” 

o “This is the second time I have watched this program and I still learned something. I really enjoyed Sanditon 
on PBS. I even re-watched it a couple of times. Thanks for continuing virtual programs.” 

o “Very enjoyable while learning - very good presentation of info.” 

• Feedback for Hidden Earth: Exploring the Science and Beauty of Caves: 

o “We didn't expect to learn so much about caves! We definitely have a new appreciation for these beautiful 
spaces and formations. Thank you!” 

o “Great speaker along with interesting slides explaining caves.” 

o “More than just down (hold on tight) and up (growing tall and mighty). Enjoyed the q and a. Quirky.” 

• Feedback for The Women: A Story of Two Army Nurses in Vietnam 

o “I really liked this program and would like to see this performer/storyteller again doing other things. 
Programs on nursing and healthcare are interesting to me.” 

o “Better than book reviews. Interesting to hear of the true story along with the novel.” 

o “Excellent insights into the lives of Vietnam nurses.” 

o “The presentation was good, and I really enjoyed the discussion that followed. A worthwhile and very 
thought-provoking presentation. Thank you!” 

• Feedback for A Spin Around the Globe: Part 2: “It was great seeing Brian in person, wonderful presentation!” 
• Feedback for Mrs. Charles Dickens with Jessica Michna: 

o “It was impressive as she thoroughly researches the characters and creates a well-balanced and interesting 
performance. The beautiful handmade costume made it even more special. I would like to see her do another 
character.” 

o “I'd love to hear the stories of some of her other characters. She did a really nice job. Thanks for booking 
her.” 

o “The actress was wonderful. Please have her back soon.” 



• Feedback for A Brief and Surprisingly Interesting History of Brick Architecture in Chicago: 
o “Mr. Quam presented a well-researched and very interesting history of brick making and architecture in 

northern Illinois. As the title stated, this was "surprisingly interesting", though not "surprisingly" in 
retrospect after seeing and hearing Will. His enthusiasm is clear and contagious. Many thanks to him!” 

o “I really found it very interesting and enjoyed it a lot. I knew some things because my dad was in the 
construction business, but I still learned a lot. Now I can’t wait to look at different buildings. Who would 
have thought bricks had so much history. Thank you for having it. I really liked it the best out of all I’ve seen 
at the library.” 

o “Excellent program with many fascinating aspects of bricks, many styles of brick buildings and the 
interesting history of how bricks were being used. Thank you for offering this presentation and hope to see 
more programs about Chicago architecture.” 

o “I really appreciated the pictures and descriptions of different types of brick. Several of my ancestors owned 
a brick company in Detroit that stayed in business for about 90 years, so it was nice to see examples of the 
different bricks.” 

o “I thought this was the best zoom program I've seen. Speaker knowledgeable, subject interesting and not 
focused on individuals, and relatable to me as a life-long Chicago resident.” 

o “I didn't know that bricks would have their own fashion trends. Very interesting program.” 

o “Both of us enjoyed Will Quam's presentation. We also highly recommend his brick-based tours in Chicago, 
including the Logan Square and Old Town neighborhoods.” 

o “What an excellent presentation on the history of bricks in Chicago. It was a wonderful session!!!” 

o “The presentation was outstanding. The presenter was excellent, engaging, articulate and approachable.” 

o “Excellent presentation!!!!!!! Thank you for sponsoring the presentation and please pass along my thank 
you to the presenter. PLEASE have him present again.” 

o “Offbeat and great! Opened my eyes about how I can look at brick buildings.” 

 
Digital Services 
General Feedback 
• Studio Specialist Annie saw a heartwarming new user success story involving an inter-generational pair: a 

patron in her 30s who introduced her father (late 50s, a retired woodworker) to the space. The patron's 
father was profoundly excited after using the laser cutter for an engraving project, stating his mind was 
“blown.” He reported sharing his enthusiasm with a neighbor who was already familiar with The Studio, 
spending 20 minutes discussing the Studios' innovative offerings. The patron stated, “I have NEVER had a 
library card before because I wasn't a book person, but got one for the first time in my life because of The 
Studio.” 

• A mother and her daughter decided to spend their special mother-daughter date at The Studio, where they 
utilized our equipment to create matching t-shirts. They both left the Studio extremely happy to have 
spent their date here and left with matching shirts.  

• Studio Specialist Zoe assisted a patron on the laser machine. The patron was highly enthusiastic and eager 
to learn the machine’s full capabilities, prompting Zoe to demonstrate two additional engraving 
techniques. The patron quickly picked up these advanced skills and was delighted with her project.  

• Studio Specialist Dennis assisted siblings with digitizing their parents’ old wedding video. The patrons had 
never seen the video before. Upon seeing the footage, the siblings were blown away by the fashion of the 
80’s and exclaimed “This is so cool!” They were extremely happy to be able to see the footage and digitize 
it for further preservation of their family’s memories.  



• Studio Specialist Dennis runs a collaborative gaming program with Youth Services, where he hosts the 
older kids and youth services handles the younger crowd. During a Super Smash Bros. Session, Dennis 
witnessed a truly heartfelt moment, when a younger sister happily spent the hour just hanging out with 
her brother. The bond was clear, and the hour ended with the sister giving her brother a big hug right after 
their match. Dennis was deeply moved to see the program fostering such sweet, positive family 
connections.  

Programming 
• Feedback for Enchanted Boxes: 

o “Staff suggested having an activity or tutorial during the ‘dry time’. We did the fish beading tutorial, which 
was fantastic!” 

o “Excellent class and wonderful and knowledgeable instructor.” 

o “Something new and something which could be used for projects in the future. Really glad I took this class. 
Everyone's box turned out great!” 

• Feedback for I’m Thankful Decor: 
o “This was so fun and creative! Thanks for your new ideas, creativity, fun and guidance.” 

o “The wreath was so much fun to make and looks great as a centerpiece for my table. Annie is so welcoming, 
patient with all the patrons, she truly makes it a joy to participate!” 

o “Winnetka-Northfield library is the best. Annie is amazing. Her projects are unique, creative and beautiful. 
She is a wonderful asset for the library.” 

o “It's always fun being in a class with Annie. Keep up the great work!” 

o “Came home with another fantastic wreath and immediately hung it in our family room. Can't say enough 
about the fun, enjoyment, and laughs that we had with Annie and the others who participated.” 

 

Patron Services 
General Feedback 
• Patron Services Assistant Monica had the following interaction with a patron: “This afternoon, a gentleman 

came in to return a book.  When he came up to the desk, he explained that his mother had recently passed and, 
when going through her things, he discovered a library book that was likely due back to us in 1983. He lamented, 
‘I'm afraid I probably can't afford the overdue fines!" I explained to him that the book was likely removed from 
the system years ago and offered to let him keep it as a memento.  He declined saying, ‘I think my mom would 
have rather seen it returned.’  I then passed How to Arrange Flowers for All Occasions by Katherine N. Cutler 
(©1964) to Stephanie, complete with all old stickers and stamps!  

 
Public Relations 

General Feedback 
• Review left on Yelp by Andrew C.: “Over the past year, I have become a regular visitor and patron of the 

Winnetka branch of the Winnetka-Northfield Public Library. I have conducted a large quantity of advanced 
genealogy research and Chicago and Winnetka history research through this library. This library has provided 
outstanding customer service, excellent research resources, excellent research support, and has helped me 
tremendously in my own genealogical research work and Chicago history research work. This library has 
enabled me to discover some very important new stories and facts about my own family history. I would like to 
thank this library and its excellent, friendly, and very professional staff of employees for being a wonderful part 
of both the Winnetka community and the Chicagoland community. I look forward to being a long-term patron of 
the Winnetka-Northfield Public Library. God bless!”

 



















































































December 9, 2025 

WINNETKA NORTHFIELD PUBLIC LIBRARY 
SERVICE ORDER 9 | ON-CALL PRE-DESIGN SERVICES FOR 
NORTHFIELD LIBRARY EXPANSION  

between and 
Board of Library Trustees of the  
Winnetka Northfield Public Library District of 
Cook County, Illinois, a public body 
768 Oak Street 
Winnetka, Illinois 60093 
847.446.7220 

Engberg Anderson, Inc., a service corporation 
8618 West Catalpa Avenue  
Suite 1116  
Chicago, IL  60656  
847.704.1300 

Engberg Anderson Project No. 253947 
 \\Ea-Chi-Nas.Eadp.Com\Chicago-FS\PROJECTS\2025 3821\253947 WNPLD Northfield Fit Out\1-Project Administration\1-Contracts & Fees\1-Client\AEOC-
Predesisgn.Docx

FRAMEWORK 
This Service Order 09, together with the Framework Agreement between Owner and Architect dated the 
Seventeenth day of April in the year Two Thousand Twenty Three form a Service Agreement. This Service Order 
is intended as a bridge document to cover preliminary efforts in anticipation of a more clearly defined project 
scope. 

Unless noted herein, other provisions of the Framework Agreement apply. 

PERVIOUS NORTHFIELD LIBRARY SERVICE ORDERS  
Service Orders 01 through 06 under this agreement are deemed complete or unnecessary and closed. 

 Service Order 01: Site Evaluation & Existing Conditions Drawings – Complete, Service Order Closed.

 Service Order 02: Programming – Complete, Closed. Products of this Service Order will be the basis for
refinement as part of the scope of Service Order 9. 

 Service Order 03: Building Design – CMAR – Suspended, Closed.

 Service Order 04: FF&E – Suspended, Closed.

 Service Order 05: Moving – Suspended, Closed.

 Service Order 06: Alternate Site Evaluation at 405 Central Avenue, Complete, Closed.

PARAMETERS 
The Owner and Architect may rely on the Initial Information. Both parties, however, recognize that such 
information may materially change and, in that event, the Owner and the Architect shall appropriately adjust 
the schedule, the Architect’s services, and the Architect’s compensation. The Owner shall adjust the Owner’s 
budget for the Cost of the Work and the Owner’s anticipated design and construction milestones, as necessary, 
to accommodate material changes in the Initial Information. 



Page 2 

SITE 
The Village of Northfield (hereafter “the Village”) is cooperating with the Library to provide a shell space for use 
by the Library in support of the delivery of expanded service to Village residents.  The Village will own the 
building and the Library will operate portions of it as a library.  The site generally consists of partial portions of 
parcels identified in previous planning studies as the current Library/Post Office/Village Garage building and 
parking areas.   Specifics of the expansion/renovation of the existing building are being developed by the Village 
and will be shared as they become available. Responsibilities for easements, access, ongoing operations, 
conformance with stormwater management requirements and zoning are responsibilities of the Village. 

PROGRAM 
A preliminary program is established by the 2023 Strategic Facilities Plan (April 10, 2023).  Detailed programming 
is covered by a previous separate Service Order (02), and is the basis for continued refinement.  It is anticipated 
that adjustments to specifics will be required based on building geometry and evolution of the Library’s service 
model since the SO 02 Program was prepared. 

GRAY BOX ASSUMPTIONS 
Allocation of responsibilities for design and funding are allocated between the Village and the Library based on a 
mutually agreed assessment of the permanence of the improvement. This assessment will be conducted over 
the course of the conceptual and schematic design phases outlined in the Village supplied schedule. A 
preliminary assignment of responsibilities is appended as Exhibit Sample Gray Box Responsibilities. This list will 
be adjusted over the course of the initial planning phases. 

OWNER’S CONTRACTORS AND CONSULTANTS  
The Owner will retain the services of the following if needed: 

 Geotechnical Engineer: Not in scope, Provided by Village of Northfield 

 Surveyor: Not in scope, Completed by Library under previous efforts 

 Site Environmental Engineer: Not in scope, Provided by Village of Northfield 

 Building Environmental Engineer: Not in scope, Provided by Village of Northfield

ARCHITECT’S CONSULTANTS 
The Architect shall retain the services of the following if needed and only as related to the Library’s portion of 
the project (interior build out): 

 Plumbing Engineer: 20/10 Engineering, engaged only as necessary in relation to the Library Build-Out.

 HVAC Engineer: 20/10 Engineering, engaged only as necessary in relation to the Library Build-Out. 

 Electrical Engineer: 20/10 Engineering, engaged only as necessary in relation to the Library Build-Out.

 Structural Engineer: Spire Engineering, engaged only as necessary in relation to the Library Build-Out.

OWNER’S BUDGET 
The Village has identified a preliminary estimate of construction cost for the shell at $5,000,000.00 which will be 
funded through a combination of Village and Library District funds (exact split to be determined following design 
approval).  Each party is intending the project to support operations of 10,000 to 13,000 square feet of net 
assignable Library space.  

A preliminary evaluation of the most recent cost estimate (March 13, 2024) for the earlier version of the project 
is used as a guide for assessing the alignment of project goals with project resources.  This initial budget model, 
appended as an exhibit, will need to be adjusted for inflation and scope including adjustments for building area, 
site geometry related to updated plans for Happ Road, site development costs such storm water detention, and 
any developments arising from the current planning efforts by the Village of Northfield and their design team. 



Page 3 

OWNER’S SCHEDULE 
The Owner wishes to move the project along as expeditiously as is prudently possible.  Overall project schedule 
is governed by the Village of Northfield. All parties agree to work cooperatively toward this goal. 

It is anticipated that the initial phases of the project will correspond to the Facility Condition Assessment, 
Program Evaluation, and Conceptual Design Phases outlined in the draft schedule provide by the Village of 
Northfield, dated November 20, 2025, attached. 

OWNER’S PROCUREMENT METHOD 
The Owner is anticipating a need to complete the build out of the Library space independently of the 
construction of new building enclosure systems and has elected a Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) delivery 
method and retained the services of  

 SMC Construction Services Inc.; 425 Renner Drive, Elgin, IL 60123; Tel: 847.622.1214

The CMAR will be responsible for project cost estimates and schedule management.  It is anticipated that the 
CMAR will be engaged and available to the Architect during the time period of this Service Order. 

OWNER’S SUSTAINABILITY OBJECTIVES 
As soon as practicable, the Architect shall conduct a Sustainability Workshop with the Owner, the Owner’s 
consultants, and the Architect’s consultants, during which the participants will: review and establish the 
Sustainable Objectives; discuss potential Sustainable Measures; examine strategies for implementation of the 
Sustainable Measures; and discuss the potential impact of the Sustainable Measures on the Project schedule, 
the Owner’s program, and the Owner’s budget for the Cost of the Work including fees. 

BASIC SERVICES – SERVICE ORDER 09 

PRE-DESIGN SERVICES 
General participation in preliminary planning activities related to Village efforts frame the project, including but 
not limited to 

 Review of Agreements

 Review of concepts

 Gray Box Scope Discussions

 Various Coordination Meetings with the Library.

 Engineering Review of Gray Box Components provided by Village and review of performance/cost with
Library.

 Engineering Review of Gray Box Components provided by Library and review of performance/cost with
Library.

 Parallel Estimating for Library Budget Elements (working with SMC)

DUE DILIGENCE & COORDINATION MEETINGS 
This is time for various meetings with the Village (V), the Villages’ design team (W), the public (P), and other 
groups as authorized by the Library (L). The number and duration of the meetings are unknown at this time. 
These meetings are in addition to the typical Owner-Architect meetings covered under the Pre-Design Services. 

Meeting Type (from Village Schedule 11/20/2025) Participants 

 Program Outline  L, W, V

 Facility Tour  L, W, V



Page 4 

Meeting Type (from Village Schedule 11/20/2025) Participants 

 Draft Program Review  L, W, V

 Program Update Review  L, W, V

 Early Concept Review Meeting  L, W, V

 50% Conceptual Design Review Meeting  L, W, V

 75% Conceptual Design Review Meeting  L, W, L,

 Community Engagement by Village  L, W, V, P

COMPENSATION 

PRE-DESIGN SERVICES 
Stipulated Sum Fee of 10% of 9% of estimated Cost of Construction ($2,684,000) ................................ $24,200.00 
This includes an allowance of $5,000 for various engineering reviews. More extensive engineering required by 
the Village process will be an additional service. Such service will be commenced only upon written 
authorization of the Library.  Applicable portions of the additional service will be credited against future phases. 

DUE DILIGENCE & ADDITIONAL COORDINATION MEETINGS 
Additional; meetings and related services:  ................................................................................ Time and Expenses 
Billed at prevailing hourly rates. An average cost for an in-person, on-site full-day meeting is $1,800/person. 
All meetings are invoiced at actual expense. 

Current and projected hourly rates are included as an Exhibit, below.  Invoices shall be submitted monthly and 
shall reflect the status of the work at the time of the invoice.  Payments based on the invoices shall be made in 
accordance with the Library’s established review and approval procedures.   

In addition to the Fees, expenses incurred in the course of completing the work will be invoiced to the Client in 
accordance with the attached Reimbursable Expenses Exhibit.    

ESTIMATED FUTURE FEES 
Within the limitations of the conceptual nature of the scope of the project, the assignment of =responsibilities 
and the cost of construction, the current assessment of architectural and engineering fees for the Library’s Build 
Out, Furnishings, Equipment, and Moving is ......................................................................................... $265,700.00 

This is comprised of 
Pre-Design (Service Order 09) ..................................................................................................... $24.200.00 
Schematic Design (Future Service Order) .................................................................................... $36,200.00 
Design Development (Future Service Order) .............................................................................. $48,300.00 
Contract Documents (Future Service Order) ............................................................................... $84,500.00 
Bidding & Procurement (Future Service Order) .......................................................................... $12,100.00 
Construction & Installation Administrative Services (Future Service Order) .............................. $60,400.00 

Amounts are subject to change as scope and responsibilities are defined. 



Page 5 

ACCEPTANCE 
If you have questions concerning any aspect of this proposal, please call.  We ask that an individual authorized to 
bind the Owner to this agreement sign two copies of the agreement.  Keep one for your records and return the 
second to us.  We will begin work upon receipt of a signed copy. 

For For 
Engberg Anderson, Inc. Winnetka Northfield Public Library District 

 Stipulated Sum of $24,200.00

Signature: Signature: 

Name: Joseph M. Huberty Name: 

Title: Principal Title: 

Date: December 9, 2025 Date: 

Copied 



Page 6 

EXHIBITS 

2025 RATE SCHEDULE  
Invoices for basic and additional services will be invoiced based on time charged to the project during the 
invoice period.  The time will be invoiced based on the following schedule up to any limits specified for each 
service or phase of the project. Rates are adjusted annually. 

Role Rate Role Rate 

PIC1 Principal $210 A3 Senior Project Architect/Interior Designer $145 

PIC2 Principal $200 A4 Project Architect/interior Designer $130 

PRT Partner $180 A5 Project Designer $120 

A1 Senior Team Leader $160 INT Interns $90 

A2 Team Leader $155 ADM Administrative Staff $75 

2026 RATE SCHEDULE 

Role Rate Role Rate 

PIC1 Principal $220 A3 Senior Project Architect/Interior Designer $150 

PIC2 Principal $210 A4 Project Architect/interior Designer $140 

PRT Partner $190 A5 Project Designer $125 

A1 Senior Team Leader $170 INT Interns $95 

A2 Team Leader $165 ADM Administrative Staff $80 

REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES EXHIBIT 
In addition to the Fees included in the Agreement, expenses incurred in the course of completing the work will 
be invoiced to the Owner in accordance with the following parameters. 

 Transportation in connection with the Project including authorized out-of-town travel, lodging and
sustenance.

o Mileage is calculated using the prevailing IRS reimbursement rates.
o Sustenance is limited to $10/$15/$20 or $45 per day.

 Reproductions, plots, standard form documents, postage, handling and delivery of instruments of
service.

 Renderings, models and mock-ups other than those normally produced by the architect as a part of the
process and requested by the Library will be provided as an additional expense.

 Expense of professional liability insurance dedicated exclusively to this Project or the expense of
additional insurance coverage or limits requested by the Owner in excess of that normally carried by the
Architect.  The Architect currently maintains shown in the Insurance Coverages Exhibit:

END 


	1. 25DEC Board Meeting Agenda
	2. 25NOV Regular Meeting Minutes
	3. 25DEC Financials- Board Version
	Cover Letter
	Header

	4. 25DEC Director's Report
	COLLECTIONS
	Physical Adult (By Location)
	Physical Youth (By Location)
	Note: Winnetka Youth department closed for 3 days due to shelving installation.
	Physical Miscellaneous
	Physical Adult (By Type)
	MTD Total Physical Circulation
	Digital Circulation


	5. FY24-25 WNPLD Audit Letter- FINAL
	6. FY24-25 WNPLD Audit- FINAL
	7. EA SO- Condensed 9 12-9-25
	SO9-Pre-Design




